
Town of Brookhaven 
 

Industrial Development Agency 
 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

Tuesday, February 27, 2024 at 12:10 PM 
 
 
 

1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. MINUTES 

 
January 23, 2024 

 
3. CFO’S REPORT 

 
Actual vs. Budget Report – December 31, 2023 
Audit  
PARIS 
Timely Payments 

 
4. APPLICATIONS 

 
J-CAD Subtenant – RMI Road Markings, Inc. 
Brookhaven Solar Invest, LLC 

 
5. RESOLUTIONS 

 
Organizational Resolutions #1 through #5 
Organizational Resolution #24 
Organizational Resolution #36 
Organizational Resolution #38  
Scalamander Cove 
J-CAD Subtenant – RMI Road Markings, Inc. 
Williams Realty Holding Group, LLC / Interstate Mechanical Services, Inc. 
Integrated Structures Request 
Blue Point Brewery / Tilray 
Ronk Hub 

 
6. CEO’S REPORT 

 
Mission Statement & Measurement Report 
2024 Bond Allocation 

 
7. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
 
 
The next IDA meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, March 27, 2024. 



 

TOWN OF BROOKHAVEN 
 

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
 

JANUARY 23, 2024 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Frederick C. Braun, III 
    Martin Callahan 
    Mitchell H. Pally 
    Ann-Marie Scheidt 
    Gary Pollakusky 
    Frank C. Trotta (via Zoom) 
 
EXCUSED MEMBER: Felix J. Grucci, Jr. 
 
ALSO PRESENT:  Lisa M. G. Mulligan Chief Executive Officer 
    Lori LaPonte, Chief Financial Officer 
    Amy Illardo, Director of Marketing 
    Jocelyn Linse, Executive Assistant 
    Terri Alkon, Administrative Assistant 
    Annette Eaderesto, LDC Counsel 
    Barry Carrigan, Nixon Peabody, LLP 
    James Coughlan, Tritec 
    Kelley Heck, Tritec 
    Greg Law, Tritec 
    Meaghan Treat, Tritec 
    Peter Curry, Farrell Fritz, PC 
 
Chairman Braun opened the Industrial Development Agency meeting at 1:07 P.M. on Tuesday, 

January 23, 2024, in the Agency’s Office on the Second Floor of Brookhaven Town Hall, One 

Independence Hill, Farmingville, New York.  A quorum was present. 

 

MEETING MINUTES OF NOVEMBER 15, 2023 

The motion to approve these Minutes as presented was made by Mr. Pollakusky and seconded by 

Mr. Callahan.  All voted in favor. 

 

MEETING MINUTES OF DECEMBER 6, 2023 

The motion to approve these Minutes as presented was made by Mr. Trotta, seconded by Mr. 

Pally, and unanimously approved. 



IDA Meeting 
January 23, 2024 
 

2 
 

 

CFO’S REPORT 

Ms. LaPonte presented the budget vs. actual report for the period ending November 30, 2023.  

Twelve projects closed last year.  Expenses are on or under budget except for office equipment 

and depreciation.  The audit is underway and ahead of schedule.  All payroll taxes and related 

withholdings have been paid timely in accordance with Federal and State guidelines.  All 

regulatory reports have been filed in a timely fashion.  PILOT payments have been made in 

accordance with State guidelines and disbursed within the mandated 30-day deadline. 

 

The motion to accept the report was made by Mr. Callahan and seconded by Ms. Scheidt.  All 

voted in favor. 

 

RONK HUB NOVA, LLC – FINAL AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION 

Ms. Mulligan presented the final authorizing resolution for Phase 2B of the Ronkonkoma Hub 

project.  A public hearing was held in 2014 for the entire project.  This phase involves 

approximately 3 acres, 175 residential units, garage space, 1,500 square feet of retail space, and 

the costs are estimated to be approximately $113 million.  Ms. Heck provided the Members with 

a brief update of progress at the site.  Construction is expected to take two years.  Occupancy just 

started on Phase 2A, and construction on 2B is expected to begin early spring. 

 

The motion to approve the final authorizing resolution was made by Mr. Pally, seconded by Mr. 

Pollakusky, and unanimously approved. 

 

HSRE-EB MT.SINAI – RESOLUTION 

This project has requested to extend the maturity date on their loan with Wells Fargo to January 

9, 2025.  No new benefits are being requested.   

 

The motion to approve this resolution was made by Ms. Scheidt and seconded by Mr. Callahan.  

The motion passed with Mr. Pally abstaining. 

 



IDA Meeting 
January 23, 2024 
 

3 
 

HAWKINS AVENUE DEVELOPMENT RHP2, LLC – SUBTENANT APPLICATION & 

RESOLUTION – POKI POKE RONKONKOMA 

Poki Poke Ronkonkoma is seeking to sublease approximately 1,400 square feet at the 

Ronkonkoma Hub development.  The lease is for 15-years plus, and they expect to have five full-

time equivalent employees.   

 

The motion to accept the application and approve the resolution was made by Mr. Pally, 

seconded by Mr. Pollakusky, and unanimously approved. 

 

All project representatives left the meeting at 1:19 P.M. 

 

HOLTSVILLE INDUSTRIAL – SUBTENANT APPLICATION & RESOLUTION – 

ORANGE COUNTY TRANSIT 

Orange County Transit is seeking to sublease approximately 3,100 square feet of space at the 

Holtsville Industrial facility that was previously occupied by Hot Gen Health.  This is a bus 

dispatch company that currently has 15 full-time equivalent employees; they estimate hiring four 

office workers and 28 drivers.  There will be a 6-year lease. 

 

The motion to accept the application and approve the resolution was made by Mr. Pally and 

seconded by Mr. Pollakusky.  All voted in favor. 

 

WF INDUSTRIAL XIII – SUBTENANT APPLICATION & RESOLUTION – NY CDG 

009, LLC 

This subtenant application is for approximately 115,000 square feet of solar panels on the rooftop 

of the facility on National Boulevard.  There will be a 25-year lease and no full-time equivalent 

positions created. 

 

The motion to accept the application and approve the resolution was made by Mr. Pollakusky, 

seconded by Mr. Pally, and unanimously approved. 

 



IDA Meeting 
January 23, 2024 
 

4 
 

WF INDUSTRIAL XII – SUBTENANT APPLICATION & RESOLUTION – 1001 

EXPRESSWAY DRIVE BUILDING A SOLAR, LLC 

This subtenant application is for approximately 2,040 kilowatts of solar panels on 200,000 

square feet on the rooftop of Building A.  There will be a 25-year lease, and no full-time 

equivalent positions created. 

 

The motion to accept the application and approve the resolution was made by Mr. Callahan and 

seconded by Mr. Pollakusky.  All voted in favor. 

 

WF INDUSTRIAL XII – SUBTENANT APPLICATION & RESOLUTION – 1001 

EXPRESSWAY DRIVE BUILDING B SOLAR, LLC 

This subtenant application is for approximately 1,836 kilowatts of solar panels on 176,760 

square feet on the rooftop of Building B.  There will be a 25-year lease, and no full-time 

equivalent positions created.   

 

The motion to accept the application and approve the resolution was made by Mr. Pollakusky, 

seconded by Mr. Callahan, and unanimously approved. 

 

WF INDUSTRIAL XII – SUBTENANT APPLICATION & RESOLUTION – 1001 

EXPRESSWAY DRIVE BUILDING C SOLAR, LLC 

This subtenant application is for approximately 1,701 kilowatts of solar panels on 169,724 

square feet on the rooftop of Building C.  There will be a 25-year lease, and no full-time 

equivalent positions created.   

 

The motion to accept the application and approve the resolution was made by Mr. Pollakusky 

and seconded by Ms. Scheidt.  All voted in favor. 

 

ORGANIZATIONAL RESOLUTIONS 

Resolution #7 – Appointment of Insurance Broker of Record 

Resolution #8 – Slate of IDA Board Officers 

Frederick C. Braun, III, Chairman 



IDA Meeting 
January 23, 2024 
 

5 
 

Felix J. Grucci, Jr., Vice-Chair 

Martin Callahan, Treasurer 

Ann-Marie Scheidt, Secretary 

Frank C. Trotta, Assistant Treasurer 

Gary Pollakusky, Assistant Secretary 

Mitchell H. Pally, Member 

Resolution #9 – Adoption of Committee Charters and Establishment and Appointing of 

Governance, Finance and Audit Committees 

Resolution #10 – Adoption of Fee Schedule 

 

The motion to approve resolutions #6 through #10 was made by Mr. Pollakusky and seconded by 

Ms. Scheidt.  All voted in favor. 

 

Resolution #12 – Hourly Requirement 

Resolution #13 – 2024 Meeting Schedule (The February meeting will be moved to February 27, 

2024.) 

Resolution #14 – Appointment of Website Design & Maintenance 

Resolution #15 – Banking & Investing (Amy Illardo will be added as a signatory on the bank 

accounts.) 

 

The motion to approve resolutions #12 through #15 was made by Ms. Scheidt, seconded by Mr. 

Callahan, and unanimously approved. 

 

Resolution #16 – Adopting a Mission Statement and Measurement Report (This resolution will 

be postponed until after the Governance Committee Meeting on February 27, 2024.) 

Resolution #17 – Adopting the Town of Brookhaven Ethics Policy, Procurement Policy and 

Property Acquisition & Disposal Policy 

Resolution #18 – Adopting a Uniform Tax Exemption Policy 

Resolution #19 – Adopting a Compensation Policy 

Resolution #20 – Adopting a Policy Concerning Board Member and Employee Loans 

 



IDA Meeting 
January 23, 2024 
 

6 
 

The motion to approve resolutions #17 through #20 was made by Ms. Scheidt and seconded by 

Mr. Pollakusky.  All voted in favor. 

  

Resolution #21 – Adopting a Prevailing Wage Policy 

Resolution #22 – Adopting an Adaptive Reuse Policy 

Resolution #23 – Delegating & Authorizing Execution of IDA Documents 

Resolution #25 – Longevity 

 

The motion to approve resolutions #21, #22, #23 and #25 was made by Mr. Pollakusky, seconded 

by Ms. Scheidt, and unanimously approved. 

 

Resolution #26 – Adoption of Deferred Compensation Program Policy 

Resolution #27 – Holiday Schedule 

Resolution #28 – Adopting a Travel & Discretionary Funds Policy 

Resolution #29 – Adopting an Accrual Policy for Management Employees 

Resolution #30 – Adopting an Accrual Policy for Full Time Non-Management Employees 

 

The motion to approve resolutions #26 through #30 was made by Mr. Callahan and seconded by 

Mr. Pollakusky.  All voted in favor. 

 

Resolution #31 – Audit and Accounting Services – PKF O’Connor Davies in an amount not to 

exceed $24,500 and Jones Little & Co., CPA’s, LLP in an amount not to exceed $1,700. 

Resolution #32 – Adopting a Bereavement Policy 

Resolution #33 – Conflict of Interest Policy 

Resolution #34 – Appointment of Insurance Risk Manager 

Resolution #35 – Approval of Unlawful Harassment and Unlawful Sexual Harassment 

Prohibition Policy 

 

The motion to approve resolutions #31 through #35 was made by Ms. Scheidt and seconded by 

Mr. Pollakusky.  All voted in favor. 

 



IDA Meeting 
January 23, 2024 
 

7 
 

Resolution #37 – Jury Duty 

Resolution #38 – Employee Health Insurance 

Resolution #39 – Cancer Screening 

Resolution #40 – Appointment of Public Relations Firm 

 

The motion to approve resolutions #37 through #40 was made by Mr. Trotta, seconded by Ms. 

Scheidt, and unanimously approved. 

 

Resolution #41 – Supplemental Benefits Insurance 

Resolution #42 – Shared Services Agreement (This will be amended so the LDC pays a flat 

amount of 10%.) 

Resolution #43 – Newspaper of Record (Long Island Business News will be added) 

Resolution #44 – Acquisition of Real Property 

Resolution #46 – Separation Payout 

 

The motion to approve resolutions #41, #42, #43, #44 and #46 was made by Ms. Scheidt and 

seconded by Mr. Callahan.  All voted in favor. 

 

CEO’S REPORT 

 

Segme Brookhaven, LLC 

The Board accepted an extension request from this spec industrial project and informed them an 

updated application would be required.  The letter updating their application reflects the purchase 

date moving to September of 2024 and construction beginning in December of 2024.   

 

The motion to accept the updated application was made by Mr. Pally, seconded by Mr. Trotta, 

and unanimously approved. 

 

LIBDC June Dinner 



IDA Meeting 
January 23, 2024 
 

8 
 

Mr. Callahan made a motion to approve a $5,000 sponsorship for the annual LIBDC dinner.  The 

motion was seconded by Ms. Scheidt, and all voted in favor.  The time and location are to be 

determined.  

 

Board Assessments, Ethics Form, Harassment Training & Fiduciary Responsibilities 

The Members were asked to complete their board assessments, ethics forms, fiduciary 

responsibility forms and harassment training. 

 

February Meeting Date 

The February meeting will be moved to February 27th at noon. 

 

Herald Real Estate Achievement & Leadership Award 

Ms. Mulligan will be receiving an award on February 28, 2024, at 6:00 P.M. at the Heritage Club 

at Bethpage in Farmingdale.  A sponsorship package will be purchased depending on attendance 

levels at the discretion of the Chairman. 

 

At 1:41 P.M., Mr. Pally made a motion to enter executive session to discuss the medical, 

financial, credit or employment history of a particular person or corporation, or matters leading 

to the appointment, employment, promotion, demotion, discipline, suspension, dismissal or 

removal of a particular person or corporation.  The motion was seconded by Ms. Scheidt and 

unanimously approved. 

 

At 2:34 P.M., Mr. Pally made a motion to resume the regular meeting.  The motion was seconded 

by Mr. Pollakusky and all voted in favor.  No action was taken in executive session. 

 

ORGANIZATIONAL RESOLUTIONS (REVISITED) 

 

Resolution #1 – Appointment of Lisa M. G. Mulligan as Chief Executive Officer 

Resolution #2 – Appointment of Lori LaPonte as Chief Financial Officer 

Resolution #3 – Appointment of Jocelyn Linse as Executive Assistant 

Resolution #4 - Appointment of Terri Alkon as Administrative Assistant 



IDA Meeting 
January 23, 2024 
 

9 
 

Resolution #5 – Appointment of Amy Illardo as Director of Marketing & Project Development 

Resolution #6 - Appointment of Legal Counsel 

 Annette Eaderesto 

 Nixon Peabody, LLP 

 Weinberg, Gross & Pergament 

 

The motion to approve resolutions #1 through #6 was made by Mr. Pally, seconded by Ms. 

Scheidt, and unanimously approved. 

 

Resolution #24 – Adopting an Incentive Compensation Policy 

 

The motion to approve resolution #24 was made by Mr. Pally and seconded by Ms. Scheidt.  All 

voted in favor. 

 

The motion to close the IDA meeting at 2:35 P.M. was made by Mr. Pally, seconded by Ms. 

Scheidt, and unanimously approved. 

 

The next IDA meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, February 27, 2024. 

 

 

 

 





































































Town of Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency
MRB Cost Benefit Calculator Cost-Benefit Analysis Tool powered by MRB Group

Date
Project Title
Project Location

Summary of Economic Impacts over the Life of the PILOT
Project Total Investment
$35,570,593 Temporary (Construction)

Direct Indirect Total
Jobs 187 40 227

Earnings $10,964,329 $2,821,364 $13,785,694
Local Spend $28,456,474 $9,792,827 $38,249,302

Ongoing (Operations)
Aggregate over life of the PILOT

Direct Indirect Total
Jobs 25 10 35

Earnings $23,404,421 $9,201,335 $32,605,756

             Figure 1

          Net Benefits chart will always display construction through year 10, irrespective of the length of the PILOT.

Figure 2

© Copyright 2023 MRB Engineering, Architecture and Surveying, D.P.C. Ongoing earnings are all earnings over the life of the PILOT.

Economic Impacts

February 16, 2024
Scalamander Cove, LLC
North of Middle Country Road between Middle Island Road & Rocky Point Rd

Figure 3

0 50 100 150 200 250

Ongoing

Temporary

Total Jobs

Direct Indirect
$0 $5,000,000 $10,000,000$15,000,000$20,000,000$25,000,000$30,000,000$35,000,000

Ongoing

Temporary

Total Earnings

Direct Indirect

-$4,000,000
-$2,000,000

$0
$2,000,000
$4,000,000
$6,000,000
$8,000,000

$10,000,000
$12,000,000
$14,000,000
$16,000,000

Net Benefits

Benefits Costs Net Benefits



Cost-Benefit Analysis Tool powered by MRB Group

Estimated Costs of Exemptions
Nominal Value Discounted Value*

Property Tax Exemption $4,749,775 $4,174,559
Sales Tax Exemption $1,125,563 $1,125,563

Local Sales Tax Exemption $603,563 $603,563
State Sales Tax Exemption $522,000 $522,000

Mortgage Recording Tax Exemption $150,000 $150,000
Local Mortgage Recording Tax Exemption $50,000 $50,000
State Mortgage Recording Tax Exemption $100,000 $100,000

Total Costs $6,025,338 $5,450,122

State and Local Benefits

Nominal Value Discounted Value*
Local Benefits
To Private Individuals

Temporary Payroll
Ongoing Payroll
Other Payments to Private Individuals

To the Public
Increase in Property Tax Revenue
Temporary Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue
Ongoing Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue
Other Local Municipal Revenue

State Benefits
To the Public

Temporary Income Tax Revenue
Ongoing Income Tax Revenue
Temporary Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue
Ongoing Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue

Total Benefits to State & Region

Benefit to Cost Ratio 
Ratio

Local 9:1
State 4:1

Grand Total 9:1
*Discounted at 2% 

             Does the IDA believe that the project can be accomplished in a timely fashion? Yes

© Copyright 2023 MRB Engineering, Architecture and Surveying, D.P.C.

$46,817,165$52,641,479

$46,817,165 $5,450,122

$1,467,259
$96,500

$355,045

Cost*
$44,550,619
$2,266,546

$4,828,122
$622,000

$301,927

$620,356
$1,247,763

$96,500

$2,539,160 $2,266,546
$2,539,160 $2,266,546

$620,356

$41,513,759
$13,785,694
$32,605,756

$13,785,694
$27,728,066

Applicant's proposed project includes 96 residential rental housing units with 10% affordable and 10% workforce and the remaining units at market rate.  Per 
the Brookhaven IDA Uniform Tax Exemption Policy, this project is eligible for a 15 year PILOT because it is located in a Community Development Block Grant 
area.  Per the Brookhaven IDA Uniform Project Evaluation Criteria Policy, the criteria met for this project include, but are not limited to, capital investment by 
the applicant and an increse in the number of affordable housing units.  

Fiscal Impacts

Additional Comments from IDA

Benefit*

$50,102,319 $44,550,619
$46,391,450

$0 $0

$0 $0

$3,710,869 $3,036,860
$3,188,771 $2,576,179

$111,578 $111,578
$410,521 $349,103







���������	
������������������������
������������������������������������������������������������� �!"#����$#���"���
% & ' ()*+,�-.,/01�2/3.45256.4�26�7*881�/,0*832,9�*258521�76:*4,9�6.�450.575:3.2�0/593.9�:8,3.�,.,/01�5.;,42<,.2�=83.�>?�@�$$���AB�B�C����������	
�DAE"�F��GHI�����
��������������#�������������#�����������������	�������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������#�������J����	�����������
�����������������
�������������������������B�$#��������	��������������K�����
�������������L����M���� �!B���������	
�����������#����������������#����������������������	�#����������������#���������K��������������#�����	������
���������������B�$#���������������#�������
��������������#��	����#���������	���������������������������	���K�������������#�����	��������������
�����#�����������������K���! �   �	������������	���������������������	
�����������
�����
�� !�B



��������	
���������������
���������������
����	�����������������������

������
��������
�������������������������������������	������������������ ��!��!����������������������!����������������������������������
�����"�������������!��!�

���������#���������
�����������������������������������������������������!�

���
�#���#�
����������������
�������������������������������
����������	��������	������������������������
�$��!�%
���%�������!�

�������������
������&�����������������������	
�������������		��������%�������!�

�����������#������'�������
������������%������������������������	���������������������(�����)��
���*������������+�

��,�����)����������������������#������������
���#���������������������������������������)������� �	���)
�����(�������*�,
�����-�������#������
���
������
��������������./01�231456�����������7&8)�9��:;<����,������=>?����	�������@���������������
������&������������� ������A��
���������������
�������	������B����
����������
���������#��C�D���

���������������&��������
����)���������
����,
�������B���������������;�������������

����#�
���!�>?�???�����!���������������	�������B��������
������������#���=�E���

���������������&���������
����)���������
���������������������;���������������	�����	
����DF�E??�	��	
�����������������G�����������������#���
��������������������������#���������
�������HI���������������������������������
�����%�������%��D?J?������HI�������%�����������������
������������������%��D?>?���������	�����������������%������������������������
�����>?K���������������
����������������%��D?J?��>?K�����)��	��D�����������)��	��J��	������������!���������������%��D?J>�����C?K�������
����������������%��D?L?��B�����������������	�������#����������"����
������������������������������������������G	
�����I���H��������	�!�����������������
��������������������������#�������
����������������!�����������,�����A��D?DJ��+��
�A��(���� ����������	������
�������,��%��A��+��
�A�'������	
�������
�����(������������������#��
�%
���������H��������������������������&�!���������������!����
��������������������	����������#�����������������A���

�������������������������%����	��	
�����#������������������	��������#�������
���������,�

�!��������������!������������B��B�����������,���%����MN4OP4QRSNN0T35�U3VN4WPXTN3���������������
��������!���H
����������������!������������������)������DF ��������)��������� ������=YJJ����)������D=���������)�����������G������ ������=YJL��,��!���H
�������������������%���������������A��%�
�������������	����������������%������������%�����������	�������������
����������	�������%�
��#��������������������������G	���������������������
��������
������������	
����	��"�������	����������!�

����	������
����������������������������������������
������������������
���������
����



��������	�
��������
������
�������������������������������		����������������������������
�����������	����������������������������

����������������������������
���������
���������������������������������	�
�������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������
�������������������
������������������	�����������	���������������� ������������������������ ������
�������
������	�
�������
�������!�����������	�������� �������������"�������������
������������������������
�������
�������������������������������		�
��
���������� ����������
� �������� ���������
��������������
������������������
��������!�����������������	�
������������������������
����������	����������������������������������������������"���������������������
�����������������������
���������������	�����"������
��������	
�������������������������������
�������������		�
��������������������������������
� ������������
��������
�������������������
�����������
����������������������������������������������������������������
������
�����
����������������
�������������������
�����������
���������������������	�
������������� ������������������������"���������������� ���������������������
�������
�����������������������������
��������
������	���
���������������
�����	�
��������
�������� ��������������!����� ��������������������������������
���������������	������
� ��������������������������������
������������
���	��!������������!�������� ��������
����������������
��������� ��������������	���#$�%&�'(������������
����������
����"���
������
�����������������������	��������������
�������������
�����
��
�� ������������� �
��������������#����������		�
����	����������������������� �����
������������������������ ����������������
������%�����������
�����
��������������������������������
����������� �
�����������������
�����������������������	�������������������������	������
����������
���
���������������������
�������������	������	����������	����
���������������
�����
���������	�������� �
����������������� ������������
��������������������������
��������������		�
���
��		��������������������������������������
����
���	�
����������������	���������� ������������
������
��������	����������������������������������������
����������)����������������������������������������������		������������������������������!��������������	�������		�
���
��������������������������
���	�
������������������������������������
������������
�������� ���������������������������������&����*�������� �
��������������
��������������������
�����������	�
�����������!
���������������������
�����������������������
�����+� ��
������������
�������+����������
�����������������
���
�����������������������������
�����������������
�������������



��������	��
�����������������������	����������������������������
�	����������
�����
������������������������
����������������������	���
��������	�����������	������������������
�	�����������������������
����������
������
�����������������������
	�������������������������������
�������������������
�	������������������������������������������
�������������
��
��
��������
�����������������������������������	

����	��������������
���
������������
����������������������
���
�������
	���������
�	���������
�����������
������
����������
���������	���������������
�������������
����������������������
���
�����������������������	�
��� ���������������	�����������	����	�������������	��������������������
�����������������������������	�����������������������������������
�
���������	�������	������������
������
������������	����������������������������������
����������������
������
	�����������������
	��������
������������������������������������
�����������	������������
��������
����������	
�����������������������������
������������������������������

	����
�������������������������
���������������������������	
�����
�����������
�	�����������������������������������	�������������
������������
�	�������������
��������������������!����������
�����������������������������������
���������
������������
���������������������������������������
�����	
��
���������	����������	���������
����������������������������������
��������	������������������������	�����	�����������������������	�����������
���������������
�	�����������������������������
�������������������������
�
��������
�����������	���
��������
�	�����
�����������������������������	
�	�������
������
�����������
�����������
��������������������	��	������"������������������������������������
�����
�
�������������������������������#	���$������%������������������������������������������
����#�
����������������������
��������	������������!��
������
	�������������	�����
����	��������	�����������������������������������������������������!����������������������������	
�����
���������������	����	����������	
�����������������������������
��������������
�����������������#	���$�����%���������"�
�������������������&�
������
�	�������������������������
�����������������
���������
���������	���������������������������
���������������������������������������
�����	
������	����������
���	��������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������
�����
����������
	����������������������������������



��������	��
������
�
��	������
����	��	����
���	���	�����	�����	�����������	��
�������	��������������������	��������	�����
����������
	����
�������������	���	�����
��������������������������
��
�	�	������������	�	����������
������
��	���������	����������������������������
��	���
��	�������������
��
�	�������
������	����������	�	����������	�����������	���
������������������������������������
��
�������
���	�����	�������������	���	���	�	���������
��������
���	��������
�������������	�	���������	�	�
	�����������	�	�������
��	��
	���	���������������
�����
��
��	�������	���������� ����!�
���"�������
�
���������
�#���������
�����������
����
������������	���������������������������
�����	������	����������������������
���	�	���������������������������������������������
�	��$�����������	�������%
�����������������������	�������
���
�	����
�������������	��������
	��	����������������	���������
�&����	������	�����������'�������	��������(�	����'��������)����	����	��������
�	����	�������	�	����
������������
��	�����
����������������
��
��	��
��	��������	�������
���������	���	���	
�������������	����
����	����������	������������

�	����������*������
����	���������	�	�	���������	����	�	�������������	�����������	�	����������	��������������	���������	�	������
������
���������	�
������
����
��	�����	��������
���	�	�������)����������
����	�������
��������
��������������	����	�������
��	����
	�������
�������������+*��	�	�����
	������������
��	��	����
��	����		��������	��������	��������������
���$��	��
����,�
���
��	�����	�������'����������	�������������'��,������	���������+���+�-���	������������
	���������
��	��	�������������	��������������������
	����	�������
��
�&����	���������������	������������
��
��	��������
������	�
�����)������
�������	�
�����	������������
	���+�.�
��
�&����	��������������������������������������������
�����������������������
���$��	��
������)�
�������	����	���������	���	����������	�����������
�
��	��������
��
�&����	���������������������
������
������������	��
���	�������
����������
����
�	��+� /�/�/$�������'��
	��



���������	
�����������������������������
������������������������������������
���������	
������������� �����������������������������������!���������	�"���"�����	
���������	
���#��������������������������������������

"������$	����#����!���������%�&�!�"���&����!�'���!�(���!�����������"���&����)��*�
�)����
 ������������������)��*�
�(������� ���%���(�������(���� 
�)�������+����������,�-.$��������/�� 0����������	
����#��������-�����	���������*���



























East Farmingdale warehouse proposal draws 
fight from residents 

 
Donna Sutherland, who opposes a warehouse proposal in East Farmingdale, posed Friday with a note 
she is sharing with neighbors. Credit: Barry Sloan 

By Denise M. Bonilla 

denise.bonilla@newsday.comdenisebonilla 
Updated February 11, 2024 6:45 pm  
SHARE 

Residents in an East Farmingdale neighborhood 
are fighting against plans to build a warehouse on 
Conklin Street, which they say is already 
congested with trucks. 

San Francisco-based Prologis Inc. has proposed 
demolishing a shuttered bowling alley and an 
indoor soccer facility to build a 121,931-square-

mailto:denise.bonilla@newsday.com?subject=East%20Farmingdale%20warehouse%20proposal%20draws%20fight%20from%20residents
https://twitter.com/denisebonilla


foot warehouse less than a half mile from the 
Route 110 intersection. 

The application is pending before Babylon 
Town's planning board, which held a public 
hearing last month that drew dozens of upset 
residents. They included Donna Sutherland, who 
lives on a street across from the site. 
“Conklin Street cannot handle 30 to 40 tractor 
trailers,” Sutherland, 55, said in an interview. “It’s 
just not even feasible what they’re trying to do.”  

Warehouse proposal 
• Build on site of indoor soccer complex 
and former bowling alley. 

• 121,931-square-foot building with 21 loading 
bays. 

• 42 peak weekday daytime truck trips. 
• 39 peak weekday evening truck trips. 

Other residents said while the site is zoned 
industrial, a warehouse would change how 
it's been used for decades. 



Sign up for the Suffolk news this 
week newsletter 

The biggest news, politics and crime stories in 
Suffolk County, in your inbox every Friday at 

noon. 
SIGN UP 

By clicking Sign up, you agree to our privacy policy. 
“I’ve been living here for 50 years. There’s been a 
bowling alley and a soccer field for 50 years. It 
may be industrial but those two buildings are not 
industrial,” neighborhood resident Neal 
Swernofsky, 72, said in an interview. 

Town planning Commissioner Rachel Scelfo said 
in an interview there are a “range of uses” 
permitted in industrial zoning but Babylon 
officials do “weigh how each application is going 
to impact the community.” 

https://www.newsday.com/privacy


 
The site of a proposed warehouse in East Farmingdale. Credit: Barry Sloan 

Company officials said the 39-foot high, one-
story building would have 21 loading bays. 
Prologis doesn't know who potential tenants 
might be or the types of products that could be 
stored on the site, according to company 
spokeswoman Alana Victor. 

“We are looking forward to the opportunity to 
build a high-quality warehouse that can support 
the local economy,” Victor added in an email. 

A traffic study for Prologis by Nelson & Pope, a 
Melville-based engineering, architecture and 
surveying company, determined the warehouse, 
which would operate 24/7, wouldn't have a 



negative impact on traffic. The study said the 
business would generate an estimated 42 truck 
trips during weekday morning peak hours and 39 
truck trips during weekday evening peak hours.  
Farmingdale Village Mayor Ralph Ekstrand was 
among those who spoke out against the project 
at the hearing. 

By the site, Conklin Street is a three-lane road 
that has one lane in each direction plus a middle 
turning lane that Ekstrand dubbed “the suicide 
lane” due to what he called the risk of head-on 
collisions.  

“It’s going to be ludicrous,” Ekstrand said in an 
interview. 

William Bonesso, a Uniondale attorney for 
Prologis, said at the hearing it's “very obvious 
that there is frustration” but “it shouldn’t be 
incumbent on the applicant to solve all the 
problems of a specific area.” 

The company's spokeswoman said the 
warehouse would be the first Long Island 
location for the company, which says it has $2.7 



trillion in goods moving through facilities in 19 
countries. 
Prologis bought the property in 2022 after the 
bowling alley, which had been there since 1959, 
closed in 2021. 

U.S. Academy of Soccer opened on the site in 
2010 and continues to operate. But Kaz Gungor, 
the business' owner, said in an interview his lease 
with Prologis is up in May and he's unsure if it 
will be extended. 

The planning board will accept comments on the 
application until March 4, according to town 
officials.  

If the planning board approves the project, it will 
go before the zoning board of appeals before a 
final vote after another public hearing. 

 

By Denise M. Bonilla 

denise.bonilla@newsday.comdenisebonilla 

Denise Bonilla has worked at 
Newsday since 2003 and covers 

https://www.newsday.com/people/denise-m-bonilla
mailto:denise.bonilla@newsday.com
https://twitter.com/denisebonilla


the Town of Babylon, including 
the villages of Lindenhurst and 
Amityville. 

 







Sachem schools sue state, battery storage 
developer over safety concerns 

 
A sign along Morris Avenue in Holtsville on Dec. 13, 2023 calls for stopping 
the construction of a battery storage facility proposed for the former site of 
the Lawlor Stone Center. Credit: Newsday/John Paraskevas 
By Mark 
Harringtonmark.harrington@newsday.comMHarringtonNewsFebruary 20, 
2024 2:58 pm 
SHARE 

The Sachem Central School District has filed suit against the developer of a 
proposed battery storage plant in Holtsville and the state Public Service 
Commission, charging the agency approved a certificate for the plant despite 
findings that the facilities “pose significant dangers.” 

The suit, filed Feb. 7 in State Supreme Court in Albany, takes issue with 
the state’s approval in October of a certificate of public convenience and 
necessity for the 110-megawatt battery plant on Morris Avenue in Holtsville, 
despite a letter from the district expressing safety concerns about the project 
“and its proximity to the school districts physical plant and schools.” 

mailto:mark.harrington@newsday.com?subject=Sachem%20schools%20sue%20state,%20battery%20storage%20developer%20over%20safety%20concerns
https://twitter.com/MHarringtonNews
https://dps.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2023/10/pr23107.pdf


The district’s suit seeks a ruling declaring that the approval was “arbitrary and 
capricious,” lacked “any rational basis” and “exceeded the [PSC's] statutory 
authority” under the law. It wants the approval to be declared null and void 
and a permanent injunction issued to bar the plant from being built. 

PSC spokesman James Denn said the agency doesn’t comment on litigation. 
Developer Savion didn’t respond to requests seeking comment. The suit also 
names the PSC’s administrative arm, the Department of Public Service. 

The proposed Holtsville facility is to be one of the first built on Long Island 
since a fire at an East Hampton battery plant in May that burned for some 30 
hours, requiring its complete replacement, Newsday has reported. 

Sign up for the NewsdayTV newsletter 
From breaking news to special features and documentaries, the NewsdayTV 

team is covering the issues that matter to you. 

SIGN UP 

By clicking Sign up, you agree to our privacy policy. 

New York state and LIPA envision potentially dozens of battery storage plants 
across the state and Long Island as part of a decarbonization of the electric 
grid which will see batteries replacing aging fossil-fuel-powered plants for peak 
energy needs and to store energy from wind and solar arrays. 

But some residents and municipalities are working to slow down the process. 
Southold, Southampton and Huntington towns have moratoriums in place to 
suspend battery storage development and other municipalities, including 
Babylon Town, are considering them. Brookhaven Town has embraced the 
battery storage facilities. 

The Sachem lawsuit notes that the proposed Holtsville plant would be even 
larger than plants that have experienced fires, including one in upstate 
Chaumont that resulted in a shelter-in-place order for residents located within 
a mile of that facility. Newsday has reported a one-mile evacuation zone was 
planned for a battery storage fire in East Hampton but never enacted. 

The proposed $160 million Holtsville plant, which would be located on six 
acres adjacent to the Long Island Expressway, is about 20 times larger than the 

https://iapps.courts.state.ny.us/nyscef/ViewDocument?docIndex=Hjfm_PLUS_8cq/R9gtMNYdlDq3A==
https://www.newsday.com/lithium-battery-storage-fire-east-hampton-bg6x6jc2
https://www.newsday.com/privacy
https://www.newsday.com/battery-storage-facilities-long-island-opposition-ry9ybr8n


East Hampton plant, and would be would be within one mile of four Sachem 
schools. Six other district schools would be within two miles of the plant, and 
three within three miles. 

“Given the magnitude of the project and its siting, the project clearly poses 
significant safety risks to the school district,” the suit states. 

The suit also notes that the battery facility is 2,252 feet from Northville 
Industries’ petroleum storage and distribution facility, with 15 aboveground 
tanks and a capacity of 15.9 million gallons. It’s also about 2,000 feet from 
Pride Chemical Solutions, “one of the nation’s largest chemical distributors,” 
and in “proximity to homes, a public library, youth sports facilities,” restaurants, 
a theater and hotels. It’s also near a state-owned natural-gas fired power plant 
and a National Grid liquid natural gas facility. 

The suit takes note of the East Hampton fire, as well one in Warwick on June 
27 that “actively burned for two days and caused heavy smoke conditions 
resulting in the initial evacuation of, and closure of the local school district’s 
elementary, middle and high schools” for a week. 

The suit charges the 2023 battery-plant fires “created fire hazards and other 
dangerous conditions for the residents of the surrounding communities and in 
part, impacted and impeded the operation of the surrounding school districts.” 

While noting Gov. Kathy Hochul’s creation of an interagency working group on 
the fires to develop new safety standards, the suit charges that neither 
Savion nor the state agencies contacted the school prior to the approval “to 
discuss and plan for emergency management of the project and/or emergency 
preparedness for any disaster that could befall the project site." 

 
By Mark Harrington 
mark.harrington@newsday.comMHarringtonNews 

Mark Harrington, a Newsday reporter since 1999, covers energy, 
wineries, Indian affairs and fisheries. 

https://www.newsday.com/people/mark-harrington
mailto:mark.harrington@newsday.com
https://twitter.com/MHarringtonNews




 

   

Reasonableness Assessment for 
Financial Assistance 

SCALAMANDER COVE PROJECT 
SCALAMANDER COVE, LLC. 

OCTOBER 2020 

PREPARED BY:  

120 West Avenue, Suite 303  
Saratoga Springs, NY 12866 
518.899.2608    
www.camoinassociates.com 

PREPARED FOR:  

Town Brookhaven Industrial Development Authority 
One Independence Hill 
Farmingville, New York 11738 



  

 
 

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

ABOUT CAMOIN 310 
Camoin 310 has provided economic development consulting services to 
municipalities, economic development agencies, and private enterprises since 
1999. Through the services offered, Camoin 310 has had the opportunity to serve 
EDOs and local and state governments from Maine to California; corporations and 
organizations that include Lowes Home Improvement, FedEx, Amazon, Volvo 
(Nova Bus) and the New York Islanders; as well as private developers proposing 
projects in excess of $6 billion. Our reputation for detailed, place-specific, and 
accurate analysis has led to projects in 32 states and garnered attention from 
national media outlets including Marketplace (NPR), Crain’s New York Business, 
Forbes magazine, The New York Times, and The Wall Street Journal. Additionally, 
our marketing strategies have helped our clients gain both national and local 
media coverage for their projects in order to build public support and leverage 
additional funding. We are based in Saratoga Springs, NY, with regional offices in 
Portland, ME; Boston, MA; Richmond, VA and Brattleboro, VT. To learn more about 
our experience and projects in all of our service lines, please visit our website at 
www.camoinassociates.com. You can also find us on Twitter @camoinassociate 
and on Facebook and LinkedIn. 

 

THE PROJECT TEAM 
Rachel Selsky 
Vice President 
Victoria Storrs 
Development Finance Practice Leader 
Andy Marzo  
Analyst 
 

  

http://www.camoinassociates.com/
https://twitter.com/CamoinAssociate
https://twitter.com/CamoinAssociate
https://www.facebook.com/camoinassociates


  

 
 

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

  

 

 

 
 
Contents 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................................1 

The Scalamander Cove Project ...............................................................................................................................2 

Camoin Associates Scope of Services .....................................................................................................................2 

Testing of Assumptions ..........................................................................................................................................3 

Financing Plan .........................................................................................................................................................5 

Attachment 1: Estimated Annual Cashflows ........................................................................................................... i 

Appendix A: Benchmark Definitions ....................................................................................................................... ii 



  

 
 

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  
      

    

      
      

      

       

 
 

 

 
 



  

1 
 
 

  

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

Executive Summary 
Camoin 310 was commissioned by the Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency (IDA) to review the 
reasonableness of a request for financial assistance for the Scalamander Cove project, proposed by Scalamander 
Cove, LLC (Developer), and to be located in on Middle Country Road in Middle Island.  

We conducted our analysis using assumptions that the Developer provided and compared expenses and net 
operating income to current market benchmarks. We concluded that financial assistance is necessary for the project 
to be financially feasible, and developed a PILOT schedule for the IDA’s review that reduces annual expenses of the 
project enough to deliver a rate of return that is anticipated to be sufficient for the project to be constructed.  

The Developer submitted a pro-forma operating cashflow analysis that delivers, with the PILOT schedule created by 
Camoin 310, an average equity dividend rate of 5.23% in the first 5 years and 5.90% over 15 years. We find that the 
return to the Developer is lower than the expected range for suburban apartment projects but anticipate it is within 
the Developer’s expectations for this investment1.  

The Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR) is lower than the 1.43:1 current market average for permanent bank 
financing but is within the range of 1.10:1 to 1.86:1. 

 

 

 

 

 
1 RealtyRates Investor Survey, Q3 2020. Calculated returns assume the $3.5 million land acquisition is treated as equity. 
Scalamander Cove, LLC has owned the land for more than 10 years; if the cost is not considered equity the returns increase 
to an average of 5.9% over 15 years. 

Table 2 

Measure With Abatement With Full Taxes
Project Cost $32,583,900 $32,583,900
Developer Investment* $11,783,900 $11,783,900
Equity as % of Project Costs, Benchmark 30% 36.16% 36.16%

Equity Dividend Rates, Benchmark 6.27% to 13.69% for Suburban Apartments
Average Equity Dividend Rate Years 1-5 5.23% 0.98%
Average Equity Dividend Rate Years 6-10 6.29% 1.79%
Average Equity Dividend Rate Years 1-15 5.90% 2.07%

Debt Service Coverage, Benchmark 1.43
Average 1.38                     1.16                     
Range 1.26 to 1.43 0.94 to 1.33 

Summary of Investment Returns

Benchmarks: RealtyRates Investor Survey.
*Includes Land, Cash Investment by Limited Partners, and Direct Equity Investment.

Table 1 

Term in Years 15
Taxes Owed if No PILOT $6,617,647
Less: PILOT Payments ($2,845,588)
Value of Tax Exemption $3,772,059

New Town Tax Revenue $2,513,427
Discounted Present Value at 2%

PILOT Summary



  

2 
 
 

  

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

The Scalamander Cove Project 
Project Ownership, Description, and Tax Exemption Request 
Scalamander Cove, LLC is a New York limited liability real estate holding company that was formed in 2005 and is 
the current owner of the property located in Middle Island, Town of Brookhaven, Suffolk County. The premises 
consists of 13.35 acres of land and is located in the multi-family residence district. Scalamander Cove, LLC is 
proposing to develop a portion of the land, building a 96-unit (19 or approximately 20% of units would be 
affordable2) townhome community comprised of 8 buildings. It acquired the land for $3,500,000 several years  ago. 
Additional startup and transaction costs of approximately $8,300,000 are anticipated, and the Developer expects to 
spend approximately $22,900,000 to construct the units, for a total project cost of $32,600,000. The project is 
expected to take 3 years to complete3. 

Additionally, the Developer is proposing to dedicate approximately 7.0 acres of the premises to the Town of 
Brookhaven for wetlands preservation and the expansion of Renaissance Boulevard in order to widen and also 
connect Rocky Point Road with Middle Island Road4.   

The Developer has requested a Payment-in-Lieu-of-Taxes (PILOT) agreement from the Town of Brookhaven IDA. 

Camoin 310 Scope of Services 
To assist with its evaluation of Scalamander Cove’s request, Camoin 310 was commissioned by the IDA to: 

 Test Assumptions by comparing rents, operating costs, and vacancy rates to real estate benchmarks for similar 
projects and noting any significant differences. 

 Review the Financing Plan and perform an objective third-party evaluation of the estimated return on 
investment (ROI) to the Developer. We also analyze whether the terms of the long-term debt are within market 
benchmarks for bank financing. 

 Prepare a PILOT Recommendation including a proposed schedule for the IDA’s review that would result in a 
return that is within what would normally be anticipated in the current market for a similar project. 

Camoin 310 prepares an XL workbook designed to collect key information about pro forma project cashflows, 
sources and uses of funds, and financing terms. This is sent to the developer or project owner by the IDA and the 
completed workbook is forwarded to Camoin 310 for use in our analysis. 

Sources Consulted 
 Cover Letter for Amended Application received by the Town on 6/14/2019. 

 Project financing and annual cashflow submitted by the Developer in October 2020. 

 RealtyRates.com’s “Investor Survey” and “Market Survey,” 3rd Quarter 2020. 

 

  

 
2 Based on Developer Pro-Forma inputs.  
3 Based on Developer Pro-Forma inputs.  
4 Project information was provided by Scalamander Cove, LLC in the cover letter and amended application. 



  

3 
 
 

  

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

Testing of Assumptions 
Project Performance and Cashflows 

We evaluated key assumptions used in the Developer’s submitted project cashflows. Table 3 below presents the 
anticipated income and expenses in Year 3, when the construction is complete, and the development is expected to 
be fully occupied.  

Scalamander Cove’s operating costs were benchmarked against the costs of all apartments in the northeast, which 
encompasses both market rate and affordable units. We also examined the expected terms of the bank financing. 
We find these assumptions to be within an acceptable range of market benchmarks5. 

 The vacancy allowance of 5% is aligned with the current benchmark for market-rate apartments. 

 Effective Gross Income (EGI) is 87% compared with 97% for all apartments. Even though the benchmark uses 
data for affordable units, it is reasonable to expect that a project with up to 20% of units designated affordable 
would have a lower EGI.  

 Operating expenses as a percent of Effective Gross Income (EGI) are 24%, lower than the benchmark of 35%.  

 Net Operating Income prior to payment of debt service is slightly lower than the benchmark. 

 
Table 3 

  

  

 
5 Note: A table of complete cashflows for the 15-year tax abatement period is included as Attachment 1. 

Stabilization, 
Year 3 % of Income Benchmark

Income before Vacancy Adjustment 2,486,223$   -- --
Vacancy Allowance (124,311)$     5% 4%
Effective Gross Income (EGI), Net of Vacancy 2,150,712$   87% 97%

Calculation of Net Operating Income and Expense Ratios % of EGI Benchmark
  Effective Gross Income (EGI) 2,150,712$   -- --
  Operating Expenses and Reserve (522,452)$     24% 35%
  Real Property Taxes (w/PILOT) (93,636)$       -- --

Net Operating Income 1,534,624$   62% 65%

Annual Financing Costs, First Mortgage and No-Interest Loan (Repayment of Equity)
 Principal and Interest (1,276,944)$  59% --

Comparison of Income and Expenses to Benchmarks

Source for Benchmarks: RealtyRates. 



  

4 
 
 

  

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

Rent  
The table below compares the monthly rental amounts for both market rate and affordable housing6. The proposed 
development will consist of 77 market rate units, and 19 affordable units7 for a total of 96 units.   

Anticipated rents are shown in Table 4, below. Using the annual rent per unit, Camoin 310 calculated annual 
household income, assuming 30% of income is spent on rent.  

 Income estimated for each market rate unit type is less than the median household income for the Town of 
Brookhaven, which in 2019 was $92,569.8 

 Income estimated for the 1-Bedroom affordable units is below the $50,650 income threshold for a 2-person 
household earning 50% of area median income (AMI) for Suffolk County, and also below the income thresholds 
for 1-person households earning 60% of AMI9. Income estimated for the 2-Bedroom affordable units is below 
the income thresholds for both 1- and 2-person households earning up to 80% of AMI. 

 

Table 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
6 Based on Developer Pro-Forma inputs.  
7 Based on Developer Pro-Forma inputs.  
8 Source: U.S. Census Quickfacts  
9 Source: AHC Area Income Limits for Low Income Families Earning at [%] of the Area Median Income, by Number of Persons, 
in the Metropolitan and Non-Metropolitan Counties of New York State 2020 

Market Rate Units Number of Units Monthly Rent / Unit Annual Rent per Unit
Annual Household 

Income (1)
1-Bedroom 12                      1,850$                22,200$              74,000$              
2-Bedroom 65                      2,300$                27,600$              92,000$              
Total 77                      4,150                    

Affordable Units Number of Units Monthly Rent / Unit Annual Rent per Unit
Annual Household 

Income (1)
1-Bedroom 9                        1,260$                15,120$              50,400$              
2-Bedroom 10                      1,610$                19,320$              64,400$              
Total 19                      2,870                    
Source: Developer

Residential Rental Units

(1) Estimated with the assumption that 30% of income would be paid in rent. Median Household Income for Brookhaven is $92,569 per US Census Quickfacts.



  

5 
 
 

  

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

Financing Plan  
Sources and Uses of Funds 

The Sources and Uses of Funds table shows the total project costs, including land acquisition and construction. The 
Developer intends to obtain institutional financing for approximately $20.8M, or 64% of the total project costs and 
has already purchased the land. Equity sources include cash investment by project partners of $8,049,900, and 
Scalamander Cove, LLC’s working capital and equity of $234,000. The land has already been acquired, and the 
$3,500,000 cost is considered additional equity for the Project. 

Table 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Sources of Funds
Bank Financing $20,800,000 64%
Cash Investment by Limited Partners (Equity) $8,049,900 25%
Land $3,500,000 11%
Equity and Working Capital $234,000 1%
Total Sources $32,583,900 100%

Uses of Funds
Total Acquisition and Transaction Costs $8,338,900 26%
Total Construction Costs $24,245,000 74%
Total Uses $32,583,900 100%
Source: Developer

Sources and Uses of Funds



  

6 
 
 

  

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

Estimation of Market Value  
The project is assumed to be sold at the end of fifteen years to provide market value for this return analysis. A sale 
price was estimated by Camoin 310 using an income approach, where the anticipated Net Operating Income (NOI) 
of the year after the sale is divided by a Capitalization Rate10.  For a 15-year PILOT, Year 16 is estimated to require 
the payment of taxes on the assessed value. The Developer anticipates that after project completion the aggregate 
real estate taxes would be approximately $450,000, and this was escalated by 2% per year to calculate Year 16 taxes 
of $605,641. Net Sale Proceeds, as shown in the table below, assumes the remaining loan balance is paid and 
subtracts the Developer’s estimated costs to sell the project.   

 

Table 6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
10 A Capitalization Rate is an estimated rate of future return, based on anticipated operating income. Each investor or developer 
will have a desired Capitalization Rate for a project. Camoin 310 used a RealtyRates.com benchmark to estimate the Capitalization 
Rate. 

Year 16 Net Operating Income (NOI) $1,670,567
Reversion Capitalization Rate (Cap Rate) 7.86%
Reversion (Sale) Value (NOI/Cap Rate) $21,254,036
Less loan balance payoff ($13,713,800)
Sale Commission Rate 2.50%
Sale Commission Cost ($531,351)
Net Sale Proceeds $7,008,886

Calculation of Market Value for Sale Price
Assumes Sale Based on Projected Project Income

Source: Developer. Calculations: Camoin 310
Sources for Cap Rate and Sales Commission, Camoin 310 based on RealtyRates.com.



  

7 
 
 

  

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

PILOT RECOMMENDATION  
Camoin 310 was asked to recommend a PILOT schedule that would reduce taxes sufficiently to support the project’s 
financial feasibility, while enabling the Town of Brookhaven to meet its own revenue needs. We developed the PILOT 
schedule using the following steps: 

1. Determine the Project’s need for assistance. We created a comparison pro forma where full taxes were paid, 
and determined that the return on equity was too low for the project to be feasible and the Project would 
not generate enough revenue to repay the debt service. 

2. Reduce the percent of taxes paid to achieve a reasonable rate of return for the Developer and still capture new 
tax revenues for the Town. We created a schedule where the Developer pays an increasing percent of full 
taxes, starting with 10% in the first year and ending with 90% in year 15.  

Increasing the percent paid provides the greatest benefit in the early years of the project when operations 
are beginning and fixed costs for debt service are a greater proportion of expenses. By paying 90% of full 
taxes in Year 15, the Developer avoids a large tax increase at the end of the PILOT.  

The proposed 15-year PILOT schedule is presented in Table 7. The value to the Project is $3,772,059 over 15 years. 
The Town and jurisdictions are estimated to receive $2,513,427 additional taxes as a result of the Project.   

 

 

Current Taxable Value (1) $5,510
Taxable Value after Completion $1,097,756

Year
Taxes Owed, 2% 
Annual Increase

Taxes Owed after 
Project Completion, 

No PILOT

PILOT as a 
Percent of 
Full Taxes

Taxes Owed after 
Project 

Completion, PILOT

Value of Tax 
Exemption 
to Project

Net New Tax 
Revenues 
for Town

1 $22,587 $450,000 10% $45,000 $405,000 $22,413
2 $23,039 $459,000 10% $45,900 $413,100 $22,861
3 $23,499 $468,180 20% $93,636 $374,544 $70,137
4 $23,969 $477,544 20% $95,509 $382,035 $71,539
5 $24,449 $487,094 25% $121,774 $365,321 $97,325
6 $24,938 $496,836 30% $149,051 $347,785 $124,113
7 $25,437 $506,773 35% $177,371 $329,403 $151,934
8 $25,945 $516,909 40% $206,763 $310,145 $180,818
9 $26,464 $527,247 45% $237,261 $289,986 $210,797

10 $26,994 $537,792 50% $268,896 $268,896 $241,902
11 $27,533 $548,547 60% $329,128 $219,419 $301,595
12 $28,084 $559,518 60% $335,711 $223,807 $307,627
13 $28,646 $570,709 70% $399,496 $171,213 $370,850
14 $29,219 $582,123 80% $465,698 $116,425 $436,480
15 $29,803 $593,765 90% $534,389 $59,377 $504,586

Totals $390,606 $7,782,038 $3,505,583 $4,276,455 $3,114,977
Present 
Value $332,161 $6,617,647 $2,845,588 $3,772,059 $2,513,427

(1) Current taxable value and tax rate provided by Brookhaven IDA.

Recommended PILOT and Tax Comparison

(2) Applicant estimates full taxes without PILOT would be $450,000. Implied taxable value calculated by Camoin 310.

Present Value Discount Rate is 2%

Table 7 



  

i 
 
 

  

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

Total
Construction (3yr) Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 Year 11 Year 12 Year 13 Year 14 Year 15

Operating Cash Flow
Residential Income
Gross Operating Income (26,245,000)$         2,389,680$    2,437,474$    2,486,223$    2,535,948$    2,586,666$    2,638,400$    2,691,168$    2,744,991$    2,799,891$    2,855,889$    2,913,007$    2,971,267$    3,030,692$    3,091,306$    3,153,132$    
Less: Vacancy Allowance (238,968)$     (243,747)$     (124,311)$     (126,797)$     (129,333)$     (131,920)$     (134,558)$     (137,250)$     (139,995)$     (142,794)$     (145,650)$     (148,563)$     (151,535)$     (154,565)$     (157,657)$     
Net Rental Income, Residential (26,245,000)$         2,150,712$    2,193,726$    2,361,912$    2,409,150$    2,457,333$    2,506,480$    2,556,609$    2,607,742$    2,659,896$    2,713,094$    2,767,356$    2,822,703$    2,879,157$    2,936,741$    2,995,475$    

Effective Gross Income (EGI) (26,245,000)$        2,150,712$   2,193,726$   2,361,912$   2,409,150$   2,457,333$   2,506,480$   2,556,609$   2,607,742$   2,659,896$   2,713,094$   2,767,356$   2,822,703$   2,879,157$   2,936,741$   2,995,475$   

Operating Expenses
Salaries and Wages 90,000$        92,700$        95,481$        98,345$        101,296$      104,335$      107,465$      110,689$      114,009$      117,430$      120,952$      124,581$      128,318$      132,168$      136,133$      
Maintenance 175,000$      178,500$      182,070$      185,711$      189,426$      193,214$      197,078$      201,020$      205,040$      209,141$      213,324$      217,591$      221,942$      226,381$      230,909$      
Deposit to Replacement Reserve 43,014$        43,875$        47,238$        47,238$        64,667$        65,960$        67,279$        68,625$        69,997$        71,397$        72,825$        74,282$        75,767$        77,283$        78,828$        
Insurance 75,000$        77,250$        79,568$        81,955$        84,413$        86,946$        89,554$        92,241$        95,008$        97,858$        100,794$      103,818$      106,932$      110,140$      113,444$      
Other 115,899$      109,686$      118,096$      120,458$      122,867$      125,324$      127,830$      130,387$      132,995$      135,655$      138,368$      141,135$      143,958$      146,837$      149,774$      

Operating Expenses -$                     498,913$      502,011$      522,452$      533,707$      562,668$      575,778$      589,207$      602,961$      617,050$      631,481$      646,263$      661,406$      676,918$      692,809$      709,088$      

Pre-Tax Operating Income (26,245,000)$        1,651,799$   1,691,715$   1,839,460$   1,875,443$   1,894,665$   1,930,701$   1,967,403$   2,004,781$   2,042,847$   2,081,614$   2,121,093$   2,161,297$   2,202,239$   2,243,932$   2,286,387$   
  (Revenue less Operating Expenses)

Real Property Taxes $22,587 $45,000 $45,900 $93,636 $95,509 $121,774 $149,051 $177,371 $206,763 $237,261 $268,896 $329,128 $335,711 $399,496 $465,698 $534,389

Net Operating Income (NOI) after Taxes (26,267,587)$        1,606,799$   1,645,815$   1,745,824$   1,779,934$   1,772,892$   1,781,651$   1,790,032$   1,798,017$   1,805,586$   1,812,718$   1,791,965$   1,825,586$   1,802,743$   1,778,233$   1,751,998$   

Interest Payment 1,600,000$            936,000$      920,658$      904,625$      887,870$      870,362$      852,066$      832,946$      812,966$      792,087$      770,269$      747,468$      723,642$      698,743$      672,724$      645,534$      
Principal Payment 340,944$      356,287$      372,319$      389,074$      406,582$      424,878$      443,998$      463,978$      484,857$      506,675$      529,476$      553,302$      578,201$      604,220$      631,410$      
Debt Service Payment 1,600,000$            1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    1,276,944$    

Cash Flow After Financing and Reserve (27,867,587)$        329,855$      368,871$      468,879$      502,990$      495,948$      504,706$      513,088$      521,073$      528,642$      535,774$      515,020$      548,642$      525,799$      501,289$      475,054$      

Annual Cashflows (Pro Forma)

Attachment 1: Estimated Annual Cashflows 
 



  

ii 
 
 

  

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

Appendix A: Benchmark Definitions  
Internal Rate of Return (IRR): The return on an investment, calculated as the rate that reconciles the beginning 
value (or initial investment) with intermediate cashflows and the ending value. IRR assumes that all cashflows are 
reinvested in the project at the same rate of return. The rate of return is constant for the entire period being 
measured. (Source: RealtyRates.com) 

Modified Internal Rate of Return (MIRR): Similar to the IRR, the MIRR is calculated as the rate that reconciles 
beginning value, ending value, and intermediate cashflows, producing a single rate of return for the entire period 
measured. Unlike the IRR, the MIRR assumes the intermediate cashflows are withdrawn and invested at some 
other rate (for example a US Treasury security) by the investor. This is considered a more accurate measure, since 
it recognizes that intermediate cashflows occur over time and do not actually earn the same rate of return as the 
initial investment. This reflects the actual market risk associated with intermediate cashflows. (Source: 
RealtyRates.com) 

Equity Dividend Rate: This is calculated as the rate of return on the equity component of a project. It is calculated 
as follows: (Source: RealtyRates.com) 

Equity Dividend / Equity Investment = Equity Dividend Rate, 

where Equity Dividend = Net Operating Income – Debt Service. 

An Annual Equity Dividend Rate is calculated for each year’s NOI. Camoin 310 also calculates average Equity 
Dividend Ratios at the end of 10- 15- and 20-year investment periods. 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR): The ratio of annual debt repayment, including principal and interest, to total 
Net Operating Income (NOI). (Source: RealtyRates.com) 

Net Operating Income (NOI): Income net of all operating costs including vacancy and collection loss but not 
including debt service. Appraisers also typically expense reserves for repairs and replacements. However, because 
reserves are not usually reported along with other transaction data, RealtyRates.com tracks lender requirements 
but does not include them in calculations. (Source: RealtyRates.com) 

Overall Capitalization Rate (OAR): Ratio of Net Operating Income to property value or sales price. (Source: 
RealtyRates.com) 

OAR = NOI / Property value or sales price 

Note: To derive a future sales price, Camoin 310 divides NOI by a Capitalization Rate using either a market 
benchmark for OAR or a client- or Developer-provided rate. This “reverses” the OAR equation to calculate a sales 
price based on investment return requirements for market conditions. 



  

iii 
 
 

  

Reasonableness Assessment for Financial Assistance to Scalamander Cove, LLC, Town of Brookhaven NY 
 

 

Leading action to 

grow your economy 

Camoin 310 
120 West Avenue, Suite 303 
Saratoga Springs, NY 12866 

518.899.2608 
www.camoinassociates.com 

@camoinassociate 





������������	
�����

�









�����������	
������	
�����	����������	���������	�������	������	��������





�������������	
��		

�������������	 �����������	����	



�������������	
��
����������������������������





The Omni  333 Earle Ovington Blvd., Suite 1010  Uniondale, NY 11553  516.248.1700  forchellilaw.com 

DANIEL S. DORNFELD 
PARTNER 
DIRECT DIAL: (516) 812-6340 
DIRECT FACSIMILE: (866) 568-7067 
DDORNFELD@FORCHELLILAW.COM 

January 25, 2024 

Town of Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency 
One Independence Hill 
Farmingville NY 11738 

Attn: Lisa MG Mulligan, Chief Executive Officer 

Re:  Request for Consent to Addition 
Project: Integrated Structures Corp. 2021 Facility 

Dear Ms. Mulligan: 

As you are aware, this firm represents 4 Pinehurst LLC and its affiliated entity, Integrated 
Structures Corp. (collectively, the “Company”), which acquired the property at 4 Pinehurst Drive, 
Bellport, NY (the “Property”), with the Town of Brookhaven Industrial Development Agency’s 
(“TOBIDA”) assistance.  

As you may also recall, the Property is an existing approximately 20,000 square foot industrial 
building.  In addition to acquiring and equipping the Property, the Company intended to build an 
addition on the Property.  The Company now intends to move forward with that addition.  It 
proposes to add a 7,500 square foot fabrication shop.  We are not seeking any additional benefits. 
This addition will allow the Company to continue to grow and thrive in the Town of 
Brookhaven.  

Pursuant to Section 6.1(b), should the Company change the footprint of it building, it 
requires TOBIDA’s consent.  Attached are the plans for the expansion which will change the 
footprint of the building.  Accordingly, we are hereby requesting TOBIDA’s consent.  This 
expansion will comply with all code and municipal requirements.    

Thank you as always for your consideration.  

Should you wish to discuss, please do not hesitate to reach out. 



Very truly yours, 

Forchelli Deegan Terrana LLP 

By: ____________________ 
Daniel S. Dornfeld 



���������	
������	��	�������	����	��	����������	��������	�����
����	���	����������	�	� 	����	!��������	"#$#	%����&'()*+,-.	/-(0'102	34	3536	17	889:;	<=	>?@
A-B	CD0E	?717-	FG*7-.	@-1H,-0+I/)*HE0JKLM	NOPQ	NRK	SKTMQ	NMPUOMLVW	XQYKQVZ	MSXUPNYKQ	[MPSMLVZ	PQS	\K]MLQ̂ MQN	RPNUOSK\\LKX_V	LP[[YMS	PN	NOM	̀MR	aKLb	cNPNM	dP_YNK[	KQ	eMSQMVSPf	NK	K__KVM	NPg	LM]MQXM	hMYQ\SY]MLNMS	iLK̂ 	VUOKK[V	SXM	NK	NPg	hLMPbV	YVVXMS	NK	V_XL	MUKQK̂ YU	SM]M[K_̂ MQNjkOM	\LKX_V	XL\MS	NOM	VNPNM	cMQPNM	PQS	lVVM̂ h[f	NK	_PVV	hY[[V	cmnolpqrZ	ROYUO	RKX[S[ŶYN	KL	_LKOYhYN	[KUP[	sQSXVNLYP[	tM]M[K_̂ MQN	l\MQUYMV	ustlVv	iLK̂ 	\Y]YQ\	NPgPhPNM̂ MQNV	NOPN	Ŷ_PUN	_LK_MLNf	NPg	LM]MQXMZ	Ki	ROYUO	P	_KLNYKQ	iXQSV	QMPLhf	VUOKK[SYVNLYUNVjstlVZ	ROYUO	PLM	̂PSM	X_	Ki	hXVYQMVV	MgMUXNY]MVZ	[PRfMLV	PQS	iKL̂ML	[PR̂ PbMLVP__KYQNMS	hf	[KUP[	\K]MLQ̂ MQNZ	PLM	P[[KRMS	hf	NOM	VNPNM	NK	hXfZ	VM[[	KL	[MPVM	_LK_MLNfPQS	NK	_LK]YSM	NPg	MgM̂ _N	wQPQUYQ\	iKL	P__LK]MS	_LKxMUNV	YQ	PQ	MiiKLN	NK	_LK̂ KNM	xKhVPQS	MUKQK̂ YU	\LKRNOjyz	{|z}~	�}�	�z	�|���



���������������	
�
�����
�������������	������	�����������������������
����
������������������
�����
���������������
�� ���������!"#$�������������������%���&��������������"��
����	�������������%�����
���������	�'(�
#������������������
���	)���������
�����
���
�� ���� ���	����'(����%����� ���
��������	�������
������������*#+#)�������� �
� �������������
�����,�����
����
����
����)�+�����-�������#./��
����%�����
��������������&������ �����
������ ������������������ ���
�������
������
	
�� 
��������&����������������������
���
�����	����
��������������
������
������������
)0�
����1�������2��
��)����
������������������+�����*������/������
)����
����3
������
���������
3������������
������� ���������4��)���� � ��
#�����5������)�6�&�������-�������������	��

������������
��������� ���
�����7���'
����)�
����
�����
���&����������������������������������������������'(�
�������������������������#8'�3
�� ������������������9�������'(�
���&�������������������������	���������������������%�����	��������� ������	���������������������
������������
����������
)8�5�������
���#8������� ���)����	�������
�����������	�������������	������������������#�����	���
)����'(�
���&���������������
�����	#�'(�� ������
���������:�����

�������
 ���,��������� �������
����������������������� �������������

#8�������������5������)�����6�&�������'(���������� ���������!��� ������������%�����
�������������������)���
����������!�#4� ��������������&���������	���� �����6�&������-�������+������(�
�����#'�����������������
�������
���������
����&��������
)����������
���
������� ����
���������������,������������������:�����	���&����������������������������
�#8����������
���������������
#�+����
�������������)����� ������7���
�������&��������	��

������
���������&����������������������&���� �����������
���� ����������%��&�����������������������
�������������
�����
#�/����
����&�
� ���������������;
��������%�������
��
�������������������)�����������������&����	
)8���&�����
�������������������#+�����+�������+����6	���<(,=������>)�������������������
�������������

� �	 � ��?���	�=���
���<(,6����
���>)�
���������������%����� ���
����&�����	�'(�
������������������������ �������������	���� �
�#@A�BCADE�FDG�HA�ICJKL



���������	
����������������������������������������������������������
�������������
������������
����������������������������������������
�����
����
�� !"��
������������������
��
���������������������#�����
��$����	����������
�������������������������������
�%&��'���� ����������������������
���������
�����������������
�����������������
���������������������������������()���������������������
�*����
�+��������������,������������(-�.�����������
��
������/���0����������������$���������
�������$������+������ !"� ��#������
������1
��������� !"����������
��������2������������������
�����������������*���������
�����������
�������344�444�������������������������
�������
������/�����
��
�����������������
����
�������������������������
������������������2������������*��*
�������������������
���5�

�����������������
�����
�������'���� �������������
����������6�$�789: ;<=>�?@AB=C�DEF@ � ?GH IBJ�KLAA MNOALP�QPR<<A�SN=CL=>DEF�T<UV�QWBWE XLYEUREBC ZP<[<[LP�GEYEA<\[E=WDEF�T<UV�QWBWE�DEF@]̂__�̀abĉ9de:1�������
����������
�����������
������$f6�ghh�ijklmhi�no�pmqq�rkslmtuhi

vkwxjh

yz�{|z}~��}���z��|���



����������	�
�������
������
���������������� ��!�
��
�����������������"������"��#�!���$��#������"���%��&
����������$�����'���$&(�#�����������
���#������"��)���"���������*�&�
���!���&#������
��$��&���+��!�!(���,--�./012-.�34�5676�899-:

;<�=><?@�A?B�C<�D>EFG



���������	
�	�������������������



����������	
�����	������������������	��������������������������������� �!�"#�$#�$�%�&��'����
�(������
�����������

�)�������������	�#)*$���������������	+�*��������������	���������������,
������������

-.�/0.12�314�5.�60789




	2-27-24 IDA Agenda (1)
	1-23-24 IDA Mins
	02-05-2024_IDA Appl._Cover Letter_Brookhaven Solar  Invest_Coast
	Brookhaven Solar Invest LLC IDA Application -  02.01.2024_Redacted
	CBA Scalamander Cove 2.16.2024
	Duke Energy Sale to Brookfield
	J-CAD subtenant app RMI Road Markings_Redacted
	Newsday 1.23.24 Kept On Track Brookhaven Logistics
	Newsday Dowling ice rink & Babylon IDA
	Newsday East Farmingdale warehouse proposal draws fight from  residents
	East Farmingdale warehouse proposal draws fight from residents
	Warehouse proposal


	Newsday Job Applicants
	Newsday Patchogue Hotel - 2-1-24
	Newsday Sachem SD Lawsuit
	Sachem schools sue state, battery storage developer over safety concerns

	Newsday Sunrise Wind Orsted
	Report - Scalamander Cove Reasonableness Assessment - Town of  Brookhaven IDA (1)
	Executive Summary
	The Scalamander Cove Project
	Camoin 310 Scope of Services
	Testing of Assumptions
	Financing Plan
	PILOT recommendation
	Attachment 1: Estimated Annual Cashflows
	Appendix A: Benchmark Definitions


	Request for Consent to Refinance Package(Williams Realty Holdings  LLC with TOBIDA)
	Riverhead Times Review Palumbo PILOTS & School Districts
	TOBIDA Expansion Request- Integrated Structures 1.25.2024
	WSHU restrict tax breaks



